A REPORT TO INFORM THE COUNTY OF LAMBTON HOUSING AND HOMELESSNESS PLAN – REVIEW AND UPDATE

BEST AND PROMISING PRACTICE REVIEW



TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION

1.	Purpose	03

CREATE AFFORDABLE HOUSING

2.	Expanding the Supply of Affordable Housing	04
3.	Sustaining and Modernized Social Housing	08
4.	Portable Housing Benefits	10
5.	Housing Allowances	11
6.	Culturally Informed Services for Indigenous Peoples	12

HOUSING AND SUPPORTS

7.	Housing with	Supportive Services	15

PREVENT AND REDUCE HOMELESSNESS

8.	Housing First	18
9.	Performance Management in a Housing First Context	21
10.	Homelessness Prevention	22
11.	Outreach	24
12.	Emergency Shelter and Crisis Supports	26
13.	Youth-Focused Response	28
14.	Diversion	30
	Discharge Planning	32
16.	Built For Zero Campaign	34

COORDINANTED AND SYSTEM RESPONSE TO HOMELESSNESS

17.	System Approach	36
18.	Human Services (System) Integration	38
19.	System Redesign	40
20.	Coordinated Access	41
21.	Coordinated Case Management	43
22.	Housing Stability Assessment and Tools	44



INTRODUCTION

The County of Lambton is conducting a five-year review of it's Housing and Homelessness Plan, originally completed in 2014. The Plan guides the work of the County as Service System Manager, and the community, in delivering housing and homelessness services. Under the Housing Services Act, Service System Managers are required to update their plans every five years.

The review of the Plan provides an opportunity to assess current and future housing needs, update the Plan based on current data, community engagement, and current best and promising practices.

PURPOSE

The purpose of this document is to review and present findings on evidence based and promising practices for housing and homelessness systems. These findings, together with community consultation results and the analysis of the current housing and homelessness system, will help inform the recommendations for future actions.

This document also provides several resources for each of the best and promising practices. These are aimed at providing guidance with any further research and/or with the implementation of any aspects of the Plan. In addition to providing the resources for the literature referenced directly within this report, additional tools, guidebooks and other documents identified during the research phase are also provided.

CREATE AFFORDABLE HOUSING

EXPANDING THE SUPPLY OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING

DESCRIPTION

For many communities, the need for affordable housing is exceeding the supply. While there is no single answer to tackle this complex issue, there are many policy approaches that are being used to help expand the supply of affordable housing. Options include regulatory changes, planning policy, financial incentives, and direct provision and partnerships. Examples are described in the following table along with potential costs and impacts (on affordable housing) of each.

	Direct Cost	Potential Impact (Rural)	Potential Impact (Urban)	Ease of Implementation
Regulatory and Planning Policy Options				
Facilitate Lot Splitting / Severances - Splitting or the severance of a piece of land to form a new lot. This process is also known as a consent.	Low	Medium	Low	Simple
Reduced Parking Standards - Reduced parking requirements for affordable housing in zoning by-law.	Low	Low	Low	Simple
Reduction, or exemption, in the parkland requirements	Low	Low	Low	Simple
Zoning/Standards for Second Units - Provisions to facilitate development of second units (i.e. permit second units as- of-right, do not require additional parking for second units).	Low	Low	Low	Simple



	Direct Cost	Potential Impact (Rural)	Potential Impact (Urban)	Ease of Implementation		
Regulatory and Planning Policy Options (Continued)						
Incremental/Flex Housing - Official Plan policies that support principles of Flex Housing (housing that is flexible in design to accommodate changes in household need).	Low	Low	Low	Simple		
Reduce Restrictions on Manufactured Homes and Shipping Container Housing - Official Plan policies to support manufactured housing and shipping container housing.	Low	Low	Low	Simple		
Pocket Neighbourhoods - Provisions within Official Plan to permit pocket housing (small self-contained studio).	Low	Low	Low	Moderate		
Inclusionary zoning, which could require new residential development to include a percentage of affordable housing units as a condition of a development application	Medium	Low	Medium	Moderate		
Pre-zoning (or pre-designating) lands to permit greater range of housing types, higher densities, more compact or infill development, or reduced unit sizes, etc.	Low	Low	Low	Simple		
Height and Density Bonusing - Policies to permit increases in the height and density of development in return for the provision of affordable housing.	Low	Low	Low	Moderate		
Short-term Rental Regulations - policies to regulate short-term rentals (i.e. requiring a business license).	Low	Low	Low	Simple		
Condominium Conversion Control - Official Plan policies to regulate the conversion of existing residential rental units including the conversion of rental housing to condominium or non-residentia	Low	Low	Low	Simple		

	Direct Cost	Potential Impact (Rural)	Potential Impact In (Urban)	Ease of plementation
Demolition Control - Policies to establish demolition control areas where landlords must get a permit prior to demolition of residence.	Low	Low	Low	Moderate
Second Suite Ready - Policies to require or encourage "suite readiness" provisions	Low	Low	Low	Simple
Prohibit Downzoning - Downzoning is the reduction of density allowed for a certain property under zoning by-laws.	Low	Low	Low	Simple
Financial Options				
Charge for social housing in Developmen Charges By-Law so that new developmen helps pay for increased capital costs for social housing because of the increased needs for social housing that arise from new development		Low	Low	Simple
Off-set planning application, permit fees, and development charges	Medium	Low	Medium	Moderate
Property tax rate reductions, rebates or exemptions on new affordable housing	Medium	Low	Low	Simple
Tax increment equivalent grants to property owners to offset a portion of the property tax increase resulting from a redevelopment	Medium	Low	Low	Simple
Affordable housing reserve fund to assist municipalities to accrue and access funds to make financial contributions towards affordable housing	High	High	High	Moderate
Provide grants or loans	High	High	High	Simple
Designate the whole or part of the municipality as a community improvemen project area in order to purchase, hold, lease or sell land or put in place a grant o loan program for affordable housing	High	High	High	Simple

Financial Options (Continued)	Direct Cost	Potential Impact (Rural)	Potential Impact (Urban)	Ease of Implementation	on
Selling or leasing surplus municipal land at reduced cost	High	Medium	Medium	Simple	
Land Banking - Acquiring and holding properties that are later donated or sold below the current market value to support the development of affordable housing. Direct Provision and Partnership Options	High	Low	Low	Complex	
Affordable Housing Development Corporation - Affordable housing development corporations can be used to negotiate, acquire, purchase, and sell lands and real property, and other activities to directly support affordable housing or indirectly through negotiated partnerships.	High	High	High	Complex	
Community Land Trust - Private non- profit corporations established for the purpose of acquiring and holding land for affordable housing.	Medium	Low	Low	Complex	
Purchasing and Preserving Existing Rental Housing - The purchase, upgrading, maintenance, and management of existing affordable rental housing.	Medium	Medium	Medium	Complex	

RESOURCES

City Spaces (2017). Scalable Municipal Housing Tools for Small Rural Communities. Halifax: CHRA National Congress Conference. Found at: https://chra-achru.ca/sites/default/files/ Congress2017/Day%202/3.How%20Research%2C%20Business/3.%20JadaBasi.pdf

MacArthur Foundation (2001). Window of Opportunity: Preserving Affordable Rental Housing. Found at: https://www.macfound.org/media/article_pdfs/MAC_1107_SINGLES.PDF

Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing (2011). Municipal Tools for Affordable Housing. Toronto: Provincial Policy Branch. Found at: http://www.mah.gov.on.ca/AssetFactory. aspx?did=9270

SUSTAINABLE AND MODERNIZED SOCIAL HOUSING

DESCRIPTION OF PRACTICE

Modernizing the social housing system is aimed at moving from a system of rigid regulations to an approach that would give housing providers greater flexibility to modify, repurpose and expand programs and housing portfolios to best meet the needs of tenants.

Steve Pomeroy describes potential outcomes of a renewed and modernized social housing sector as creating a more resilient and investible housing sector; balancing a social mission with more entrepreneurial operating culture; focusing new funding on organizations with potential for capacity development and growth; providing low-income renters with increased assistance and choice; and providing support where needed with community partners to vulnerable tenants. (Pomeroy, 2017)

KEY COMPONENTS

Key components of a modernized social housing system as described in Pomeroy's Envisioning a Strengthened Social Housing Sector include:

- » Financial viability a reformed rental assistance structure.
- » New development activity providers are positioned to access and reinvest accumulated equity and retained earnings.
- » Sector restructuring willingness to change and consolidate among providers where needed.
- » Level and form of government support funding is reformed to enable greater financial sustainability and sector resilience.
- » Creating new sector institutions modern forms of institutional supports established separate from direct agencies or roles
- » Comprehensive local housing and homeless service plans planning to coordinate delivery of support services to stabilize and strengthen tenancies.
- » Outcomes for existing tenants and housing need existing RGI tenancies are protected. As tenancies turnover, new tenants are eligible for assistance under a new Portable Housing Benefit (PHB).
- » Special initiatives for Indigenous and homeless new initiatives are implemented to add culturally appropriate housing options for Indigenous households.



In April 2019, The Ontario Government released the Community Housing Renewal Strategy. The strategy outlines the government's plan for Ontario's community housing system. The focus of the plan is on:

- » Repairing and increasing the supply and mix of well-maintained housing that meets individual's needs
- » Providing opportunity for people to live in housing that meets their needs and supporting them to participate in the economy and their community
- » increasing efficiency in the system by removing red-tape, improving coordination and helping providers offer sustainable housing

Key system changes include:

- » Making rent more predictable by simplifying rent-geared-to-income calculations
- » Freeing up waitlists by having tenants prioritize their first choice and accept the first unit they are offered, while allowing Service System Managers flexibility to make exceptions in extenuating circumstances
- » Making housing available to those who truly need it by requiring an asset test
- » Enabling housing providers to turn away tenants who have been evicted for criminal activity
- » Protecting tenants who receive child support payments by ensuring their rent is not impacted by payments
- » Encouraging tenants to seek opportunities at school and work by removing existing penalties for working more hours or going to college or university

RESOURCES

Community Housing Renewal Strategy. Found at: https://www.ontario.ca/page/community-housing-renewal-strategy

ONPHA (2018). Consultations on a Modern Social Housing Framework for Ontario: A guide for non-profit housing providers. Found at: http://www.onpha.on.ca/Content/Resources/ Downloads-Area/Ontario_s_Social_Housing_Modernization_-_A_Guide_for_ONPHA_ Members.aspx

ONPHA (2017). Housing Standards: Thoughts from Ireland. Found at: http://qc.onpha. on.ca/2017/10/housing-standards-thoughts-from-ireland/

Pomeroy, S. (2017). Envisioning a Strengthened Social Housing Sector. Centre for Urban Research and Education (CURE). Found at: https://carleton.ca/cure/wp-content/uploads/Envisioning-a-strengthened-social-housing-sector-FINAL-Oct-2018.pdf

DESCRIPTION OF PRACTICE

10

Page

A portable housing benefit provides direct financial assistance to households to be used to pay for housing expenses. It may be called a housing allowance, rent assistance, or other terms. Unlike social housing the assistance is tied to a household not the housing unit; providing greater choice to the household on where they would like to live. The benefit could also be used to provide emergency assistance to individuals and families in need (i.e. leaving domestic violence, short-term income loss).

KEY COMPONENTS

- » Direct assistance to households to promote autonomy of household
- » Partial 'gap' coverage to help bridge affordability while minimizing potential for rent inflation or disincentives to work
- » Immediate access to benefit
- » Flexible and responsive to needs (i.e. higher benefit for families)
- » Housing choice

Housing allowances are discussed in more detail in the next section.

RESOURCES

County of Renfrew (2018). Portable Housing Benefit Pilot Program. Found at: https://www.countyofrenfrew.on.ca/_documents/RCHC/CoR-PHB-Package.pdf

Nelson, G., & Aubry, T. (2017). A portable housing benefit as an indispensable component of ending homelessness in Canada. Toronto: EENet, Ontario Housing First Regional Community of Interest. Found at: http://eenet.ca/sites/default/files/pdfs/OFHRN-CoI-Policy-Brief_Portable-Housing-Benefit-FINAL-23Oct17.pdf

United Way (2017). A portable Housing Benefit: Tackling Housing Poverty and Homelessness. Found at: http://www.unitedway.ca/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/UWCC-Supplemental-Policy-Paper-Portable-Housing-Benefit.pdf

HOUSING ALLOWANCES

DESCRIPTION OF PRACTICE

A housing allowance is a form of 'demand-side' financial subsidy provided to low income households towards monthly housing costs. Housing allowance programs are often open enrolment or entitlement programs, for all households below an income threshold, and in many cases other criteria related to the type of household. (CMHC, 2006) The subsidy formula often varies by community/program.

DIFFERENT MODELS

Michael Mendelson, in Designing a Housing Allowance Program, outlines five options for a housing allowance program:

- » A housing allowance that fills part of the gap between the social assistance shelter benefit maximum and affordable rent.
- » A housing allowance that fills part of the gap between the social assistance shelter benefit average and affordable rent.
- » A housing allowance that fills part of the gap between actual rent and affordable rent.
- » A flat-rate housing allowance based on income, not rent, plus a supplemental housing allowance to fill part of the remaining gap up to an affordable rent.
- » A flat-rate housing allowance based only on income so that anyone can afford a reasonable rent regardless of their actual rent.

RESOURCES

CMHC (2006). Housing Allowance Options for Canada. Presentation by June Carter at CFAA. Found at: https://cfaa-fcapi.org/pdf/Summary_CMHC_report.pdf

Mendelson, M. (2016). Designing a Housing Allowance Program. Caledon Institute of Social Policy. Found at: https://maytree.com/wp-content/uploads/1091ENG.pdf

CULTURALLY INFORMED SERVICES FOR INDIGENOUS PEOPLES

DESCRIPTION

Of the 773,000 Indigenous households living in Canada in 2016, 13 per cent lived in First Nation communities (on reserve lands). Most Indigenous families and individuals not living on reserve lands lived in urban and rural areas with 62 per cent living in urban areas and 25 per cent living in small towns, rural and remote areas for a total of 87 per cent (2016 Census quoted in CHRA, 2018). Using CMHC's definition of core housing need and data from the 2016 Census, the incidence of core housing need is much higher among Indigenous households in comparison to non-Indigenous households (18.3 per cent vs 12.4 per cent) (Ibid).

Indigenous homelessness refers to First Nations, Métis and Inuit individuals, families or communities lacking stable, permanent, appropriate housing, or the immediate prospect, means or ability to acquire such housing. Unlike the common colonialist definition of homelessness, Indigenous homelessness is not defined as lacking a structure of habitation; rather, it is more fully described and understood through a composite lens of Indigenous worldviews. These include individuals, families and communities isolated from their relationships to land, water, place, family, kin, animals, cultures, languages and identities Indigenous people experiencing these kinds of homelessness cannot culturally, spiritually, emotionally or physically reconnect with their Indigenous culture or lost relationships (Aboriginal Standing Committee on Housing and Homelessness, 2012).

Indigenous People experience homelessness at a disproportionate rate to the overall population. Belanger et al (2013) found that 1 in 15 Indigenous People in urban centres are homeless compared to 1 in 128 for the general population. Contributors of Indigenous homelessness include the historical trauma, discrimination, and oppression tracing back to colonization, and a result of the Indian Act, residential schools and the Sixties Scoop.

In addition, Indigenous people experience a disproportionate level of health issues when compared with the overall population. "Indigenous health is influenced by a legacy of colonization and racism that often filter through the health and social services system" (Government of Northwest Territories, 2016).

KEY COMPONENTS

The literature puts forward many recommendations in addressing Indigenous homelessness and housing needs. Key components based on Patrick's Aboriginal Homelessness in Canada: A Literature Review, and the Aboriginal Standing Committee on Housing and Homelessness and the Indigenous Housing Caucus Working Group of CHRA include:

- » Culturally appropriate provide culturally appropriate housing initiatives and services
 - » Understanding of cultural competencies
 - » Establish safe, culturally relevant and sensitive discharge plans

- » Housing strategies should honour Indigenous desire for self-determination.
- » Indigenous engagement involve Indigenous Peoples in every stage of program and policy development
 - » Initiate greater consultation with Indigenous organizations and agencies in the creation of centralized intake system
 - » Talk to, and learn from, the Indigenous people who have been previously or are currently homeless or have faced housing issues.
- » Housing subsidies provide subsidies and support services that allow Indigenous People to obtain, retain and maintain safe and culturally appropriate housing.
- » Focus on prevention

Page

- » Government collaboration collaboration among all four levels of government
 - » National policies to support Indigenous rental and ownership housing.
- » Expand and support existing organizations support agencies currently providing housing to homeless Indigenous youth and children
 - » Create an urban Indigenous cultural support system/centre with culturally specific wrap-around programs
 - » Provide more opportunities for urban Indigenous people to earn income and receive education.
- » Collaboration allow for more engagement and involvement with stakeholders, leaders, committee members, and First Nations communities.
- » Community engagement educate the non-Indigenous community about Indigenous poverty, homelessness and the history of colonial oppression.
- » For Indigenous By Indigenous affordable housing and service support needs for Indigenous families and individuals who are homeless or poorly housed designed, owned and operated by Indigenous housing and service providers.

Complementary to the above, in their guide Building a Culturally Respectful Health and Social Services System, the Government of Northwest Territories, states that building a culturally informed system for Indigenous Peoples includes incorporating healing practices that are based on Indigenous understandings of health and wellness, and ensuring the system fairly distributes its services (Government of Northwest Territories, 2016). The work also states that no policy should be decided by any representative without the full and direct participation of members of the groups affected by the policy, "Nothing about us without us".

RESOURCES

Aboriginal Standing Committee on Housing and Homelessness (2012). Plan to End Aboriginal Homelessness in Calgary. Found at: http://calgaryhomeless.com/content/ uploads/Aboriginal-Plan-2012.pdf

Belanger, Y. et al. (2013). Homelessness, Urban Aboriginal People, and the Need for a



National Enumeration. Aboriginal Policy Studies, 2(2), 4-33. Found at: http://www.habitation. gouv.qc.ca/fileadmin/internet/centredoc/CC/NS23248.pdf

Government of Northwest Territories (2016). Building a Culturally Respectful Health and Social Services System. Fount at: https://www.hss.gov.nt.ca/sites/hss/files/resources/build-ing-culturally-respectful-hss-system.pdf

Indigenous Housing Caucus Working Group, Canadian Housing and Renewal Association (CHRA) (2018). A For Indigenous by Indigenous National Housing Strategy. Addressing the Housing

Needs of Indigenous Families and Individuals in the Urban, Rural and Northern Parts of Canada. Found at: http://www.chra-achru.ca/sites/default/files/documents/2018-06-05_for-in-digenous-by-indigenous-national-housing-strategy.pdf

Patrick, C. (2014). Aboriginal Homelessness in Canada: A literature review. Toronto: Canadian Homelessness Research Network. Found at: https://www.homelesshub.ca/sites/ default/files/AboriginalLiteratureReview.pdf

Thistle, J. (2017.) Indigenous Definition of Homelessness in Canada. Toronto: Canadian Observatory on Homelessness Press. Found at: https://homelesshub.ca/sites/default/files/COHIndigenousHomelessnessDefinition.pdf



HOUSING WITH SUPPORTIVE SERVICES

DESCRIPTION OF PRACTICE

Page

15

Housing with supports is the combination of housing with supportive services designed to help vulnerable individuals and families access and maintain appropriate safe housing. Housing with supports can be found within a full range of housing types with distinct program elements and criteria. Various models are described below.

DIFFERENT MODELS

Scattered-site Housing has been used as a key component of many Housing First initiatives. Scattered-site housing is largely owned by private sector landlords. In the At Home/Chez Soi study, for example, over 260 landlords and property management companies participated with over 1,200 housing units provided (MHCC,2014). Clients living in scattered-site housing receive customized housing supports such as ICM or ACT depending on their level of need. By definition, scattered-site housing is not located in one structure - housing units can be located in properties in many areas across a community depending on availability and affordability.

PERMANENT SUPPORTIVE HOUSING

Permanent Supportive Housing (PSH) provides long-term housing and supports to individuals who are homeless and experiencing complex mental health, addiction, and physical health barriers. A key feature of PSH is its appropriate level of service for chronically homeless clients who may need support for an uncertain length of time (Turner, 2015). Turner estimates a case manager ratio of 1:10/15 for high acuity clients and 1:20 for moderate acuity clients.

Permanent supportive housing requires the creation (new construction or acquisition/ renovation) of buildings with the specific purpose of housing homeless and vulnerable populations.

RAPID RE-HOUSING

Rapid re-housing (RRH) is an intervention aimed at helping individuals and families quickly exit homelessness, return to housing, and prevent homelessness in the future. RRH programs will vary in level and type of support provided depending on needs. RRH programs targets clients with lower acuity levels using case management and financial supports, and clients who can live independently after receiving subsidies and support services (Turner, 2015:13). Turner estimates the caseload for RRH at 1:25. RRH have a lower expected timeframe than PSH (Ibid.:26). Key elements of a successful RRH program include individualized and flexible assistance, progressive engagement, and the ability to make program modifications when needed (NAEH, 2017). RRH uses a Housing First approach.

The National Alliance to End Homelessness (with several other partners and agencies) identify three core components to RRH:

- » Housing identification recruitment of landlords, addressing potential barriers to landlord participation, and assisting households to find and secure appropriate rental housing.
- » Move-in and rent assistance provide assistance to cover move-in costs, deposits needed to allow people to move immediately out of homelessness and to stabilize in permanent housing.
- » Case management and services help individuals experiencing homelessness identify and select permanent housing options based on their unique needs, preferences and financial resources.

INTENSIVE CASE MANAGEMENT

Intensive case management (ICM) in the context of a Housing First approach is designed to serve moderate/higher acuity clients who have more complex needs. Based on the Toolkit for Intensive Case Management in Canada, the client ratios for case managers should not exceed 1:15, compared to 1:20 for traditional case management, and more time should be dedicated to clients with an average of 2.5 hours per client per week. Turner, in Performance Management in a Housing First Context estimates, 1:20 as a case manager ratio for ICM. The toolkit identifies five core components of ICM:

- » Assessing programs use a series of assessment tools to capture information about clients.
- » Managing includes agency responsibilities such as developing program documents, sustaining community engagement, developing and maintaining partnerships, and research and evaluation.
- » Staffing building a stable program workforce
- » Housing includes landlord retention, housing retention, and housing support policies and strategies.
- » Ending homelessness a client has a home with affordable rent and rent subsidy if needed, and is connected with all necessary support and care.

ASSERTIVE COMMUNITY TREATMENT (ACT)

Assertive Community Treatment (ACT) programs provide longer-term case management and housing support to very high acuity homeless clients facing addictions and mental health. Turner estimates a caseload ratio of 1:10 for an ACT program. ACT programs ultimately aim to move clients toward increasing self-sufficiency (Turner, 2015: 14).

RESOURCES

CSH (2013). Dimensions of Quality Supportive Housing. Found at: https://www.csh. org/wp-content/uploads/2013/07/CSH_Dimensions_of_Quality_Supportive_Housing_ guidebook.pdf

Employment and Social Development Canada (2018). Toolkit for Intensive Case Management in Canada: A resource for those using case management program for the Housing First model. Found at: https://www.stepstonesforyouth.com/wp-content/ uploads/2018/08/Toolkit-for-Intensive-Case-Management-in-Canada-1.pdf

Mental Health Commission of Canada (2014). National Final Report. Cross-Site At Home/ Chez

Soi Project. Found at: https://www.mentalhealthcommission.ca/sites/default/files/mhcc_at_ home_report_national_cross-site_eng_2_0.pdf

Ministry of Housing (2017). Ontario Supportive Housing Best Practices Guide. Found at: http://www.mah.gov.on.ca/AssetFactory.aspx?did=15988

National Alliance to End Homelessness (2016). Rapid Re-Housing Toolkit. (Website) Found at: https://endhomelessness.org/resource/rapid-re-housing-toolkit/

National Alliance to End Homelessness (2017). Rapid Re-Housing Toolkit. Found at: https://endhomelessness.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/10/NAEH-Rapid-Re-housingTooklit_2017-FINAL.pdf

Point Source Youth (2019). Rapid Re-Housing Handbook: A resource guide for rapid re-housing programs. Version 1.0. Found at: https://drive.google.com/file/d/1DQniOOQ5B-wRfkybubyX1C7G0v5GttMGY/view

Turner, A. (2015): Performance Management in a Housing First Context: A Guide for Community Entities. Toronto: The Homeless Hub Press. Found at: https://www.homelesshub.ca/sites/default/files/attachments/CEGuide-final.pdf

PREVENT AND REDUCE HOMELESSNESS

HOUSING FIRST

DESCRIPTION OF PRACTICE

Housing First is a homelessness assistance approach that prioritizes providing permanent housing to people experiencing homelessness (NAEH, 2016). Housing First is guided by the notion that people need the necessities of a safe place before being able to address other needs such as employment and mental health. Housing First is further guided by the belief that client choice is valuable in housing selection and support service participation. Housing First can be available through several different building forms including scattered site apartments and multi-unit apartment buildings with various types of landlord-tenant and rent subsidy arrangements (Waegemakers and Rook, 2012).

There is growing evidence to show that Housing First is an effective approach to supporting individuals and families in accessing housing faster and program participants are more likely to remain housed (NAEH, 2016). The Mental Health Commission of Canada (MHCC) engaged more than 2,000 participants for two years in five Canadian cities in the world's largest test of Housing First. MHCC concluded that "Housing First can be effectively implemented in Canadian cities of different size and different ethnoracial and cultural composition". Also "Housing First rapidly ends homelessness" (MHCC, 2014). See also NAEH (2016). The Housing First principles stated by MHCC include:

- » immediate access to housing with no housing readiness conditions
- » Consumer choice and self-determination
- » Recovery orientation
- » individualized and person-driven supports, and
- » Social and community integration

MHCC goes on to note that At Home/Chez Soi used a rent supplement approach. Participants were largely able to choose the neighbourhood and type of housing they wanted, as At Home/Chez Soi was grounded in the Housing First principle of choice and self-determination as the foundation of recovery. Housing First operates on the assumption that people know their own needs best, including where they want to live and the kinds of services they would like to access.



KEY COMPONENTS

Taking a Housing First approach means that that anyone experiencing homelessness can access housing without prerequisites (i.e. income, participation in services, substance use), services are voluntary and client-driven, and people are assisted to access permanent housing options as quickly as possible. Housing First programs typically provide rental assistance, with a standard lease, and a range of voluntary services to promote housing stability and well-being.

Core elements of a system-wide Housing First Approach include:

- » Community-wide coordinated access process
- » Low-barrier entry to service
- » Outreach and crisis response are coordinated to the local coordinated entry process
- » Services are informed by a harm reduction philosophy
- » Data-driven approach to prioritizing housing assistance
- » Staff are trained in and employ evidence-based practices

DIFFERENT MODELS

Scattered-site Housing has been used as a key component of many Housing First initiatives. "This housing model - known as "scattered-site independent housing" honours clients' preferences such as choosing apartments in neighbourhoods with which they are familiar" (Tsemberis, 2010). Scattered-site housing is largely owned by private sector landlords. In the At Home/Chez Soi study, for example, over 260 landlords and property management companies participated with over 1,200 housing units provided (MHCC, 2014). Individualized supports are then provided to the client according to their needs in the scattered-site housing unit. By definition, scattered-site housing units can be located in properties in many areas across a community depending on availability and affordability.

Permanent Supportive Housing (PSH) is aimed at individuals and families with chronic illnesses, disabilities, mental health issues, or substance use disorders who have experienced long-term or repeated homelessness. It provides long-term rental assistance and support services.

Rapid Re-Housing provides short-term rental assistance and services with the goal of assisting individuals and families obtain housing quickly, increase self-sufficiency, and remain housed. Core components of rapid re-housing include identification, rent and move-in assistance, and case management and services.

RESOURCES

Canadian Housing First Toolkit. Found at: http://housingfirsttoolkit.ca/wp-content/uploads/Ca-nadianHousingFirstToolkit.pdf

HUD, Housing First Program Assessment Tool. Found at: https://www.hudexchange.info/ resource/5294/housing-first-assessment-tool/

Mental Health Commission of Canada. Turning the Key. Found at: https://www.mentalhealthcommission.ca/sites/default/files/PrimaryCare_Turning_the_Key_Full_ENG_0_1.pdf

Mental Health Commission of Canada (2014). National Final Report. Cross-Site At Home/ Chez

Soi Project. Found at: https://www.mentalhealthcommission.ca/sites/default/files/mhcc_at_ home_report_national_cross-site_eng_2_0.pdf

National Alliance to End Homelessness (2016). Fact Sheet: Housing First. Found at: http://endhomelessness.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/04/housing-first-fact-sheet.pdf

Tsemberis, S. (2010) Housing First. The Pathways Model to End Homelessness for People with Mental Illness and Addiction. Hazelden. Found at:

https://www.homelesshub.ca/resource/housing-first-pathways-model-end-homelessness-peo-ple-mental-illness-and-addiction

USICH (2016). Housing First Checklist. Found at: https://www.usich.gov/resources/uploads/ asset_library/Housing_First_Checklist_FINAL.pdf

Waegemakers Schiff, Jeannette; Rook, John (2012). Housing first - Where is the Evidence? (Toronto: Homeless Hub). Found at: https://www.homelesshub.ca/sites/default/files/Housing-FirstReport_final.pdf

PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT IN A HOUSING FIRST CONTEXT

DESCRIPTION OF PRACTICE

Performance management is aimed at evaluating a system's impact on priority populations. As outlined by the Homeless Hub, performance management articulates what the homeless-serving system, as a whole, is trying to achieve; illustrates whether progress is being made towards preventing and reducing homelessness in a particular community; keeps programs accountable to funders; quantifies achievements towards the goals of the Community Plan and Homelessness Partnering Strategy (HPS) targets; uses information gathered for continuous improvement; aligns program-level results to client outcomes at the individual and system-levels; and informs the next round of strategy review and investment planning.

KEY COMPONENTS

A Guide to Performance Management in the Housing First Context, written by Alina Turner and published by the Homeless Hub, provides direction specifically for Community Entity organizations to help manage Homelessness Partnering Strategy funding in order to align and evaluate efforts to national-level goals and benchmarks. Within this framework, several elements are outlined:

- » Develop key program and system-level performance indicators to monitor performance at the program and system-level
- » Gather and analyze program and system data to understand populations served (and that may not be served well) in the system
- » Establish performance targets to track progress in meeting program level and system-level goals
- » Analyze performance in order to understand the relationship between outputs and outcomes at the program and system-level (output is typically an activity or action (what a program does) and an outcome is the change in client as a result of the activity or action)
- » Working with diverse funders to develop targets and indicators that match local context and priorities
- » Engaging key stakeholders to determine what is occurring in the system (not just at program-level).
- » Leveraging data to gauge whether funded programs meet the expected results.

RESOURCES

Alina Turner (2015): Performance Management in a Housing First Context: A Guide for Community Entities. Toronto: The Homeless Hub Press. Found at: https://www.homelesshub.ca/sites/default/files/attachments/CEGuide-final.pdf

HOMELESSNESS PREVENTION

DESCRIPTION OF PRACTICE

Homelessness prevention refers to policies, practices, and interventions that reduce the likelihood that someone will experience homelessness. It also means providing those who have been homeless with the necessary resources and supports to stabilize their housing, enhance integration and social inclusion, and ultimately reduce the risk of recurrence of homelessness (Gaetz, S. and Dej, E., 2017).

Prevention requires an approach where various elements are working together. The Canadian Observatory on Homelessness' Framework for Homelessness Prevention defines three prevention interventions that should occur simultaneously; primary, secondary and tertiary. Primary prevention refers to structural-level initiatives to reduce the risk of homelessness. Secondary prevention is aimed at those who are at imminent risk of homelessness or who have recently become homeless to avoid homelessness or moving out from homelessness as quickly as possible. And tertiary prevention includes supporting individuals and families who have previously experienced housing to ensure it does not happen again.

The National Alliance to End Homelessness outlines five key principles to effective homelessness prevention:

- » Crisis resolution Understanding that every situation that could result in homelessness is a crisis for the person experiencing it. Responses include rapid assessment and triage, focus on personal safety, de-escalation of emotions, setting achievable action steps, assistance in taking action steps (where appropriate), and returning the individual to have control over their problem solving.
- » Client choice, respect and empowerment Homelessness prevention services must help people in crisis regain a sense of control and feeling of empowerment. Respect for strengths and reinforcement of progress.
- » Provide the minimum assistance necessary in shortest time possible Providing 'just enough' assistance to prevent homelessness.
- » Maximize community resources.
- » The right resources to the right people at the right time Target people who have the highest risk of becoming homeless and who are likely to remain housed if assisted.

KEY COMPONENTS

Key components of effective homelessness prevention include (Gaetz, S. and Dej, E., 2017):

Structural prevention – addresses factors that leave people at risk of homelessness through legislation, policy and investment. Systems prevention – responds to institutional and system failures to ensure people have access to the supports they need to prevent homelessness. It includes fixing policy and procedural barriers, enhancing access to public systems and supports, and facilitating effective



transitions from public institutions or systems.

- » Early Intervention prevention policies and initiatives aimed towards those at imminent risk of homelessness. May include outreach, coordinated assessment, place-based supports as well as more targeted interventions such as family mediation, school-based early intervention, and victims of violence support.
- » Evictions Prevention strategies to reduce the risk that people will lose their housing. Strategies may include landlord mediation, rental assistance, legal support.
- » Housing stability support people to access and retain housing. Supports may include rent supplements and/or income supports, recovery-oriented supports, educational and/or employment supports, life skill supports, and supports for social inclusion.

RESOURCES

Stephen Gaetz & Erin Dej. (2017). A New Direction: A Framework for Homelessness Prevention. Toronto: Canadian Observatory on Homelessness Press. Found at: https://www.homelesshub.ca/ANewDirection

Gaetz, S., Schwan, K., Redman, M., French, D., & Dej, E. (2018). The Roadmap for the Prevention of Youth Homelessness. A. Buchnea (Ed.). Toronto, ON: Canadian Observatory on Homelessness Press. Found at: https://www.homelesshub.ca/sites/default/files/ YPRfullreport_2.pdf

Homeless Hub (2017). "Evictions Planning and Prevention". Found at: http://homelesshub. ca/solutions/housing/evictions-planning-and-prevention

National Alliance to End Homelessness (2009). Homelessness Prevention Guide. Found at: https://endhomelessness.org/resource/homelessness-prevention-creating-programs-that-work/ Page

24

DESCRIPTION OF PRACTICE

Effective outreach includes ensuring people in need know that help is available and how to access it (Gaetz, S., and Dej, E. 2017). Effective outreach and engagement bring services to people experiencing homelessness who may not seek them out on their own or who may distrust current systems. Outreach can take many forms such as meeting a person at a service or visiting them at their home. The "common element of all outreach work is to actively approach clients with the intention of offering supports related to service provision and/or to establish engagement" (Homelessness NSW).

Outreach strategies require understanding of individual circumstances, including cultural barriers. Varied, flexible, and responsive professional support services, often including assertive outreach are important tools. A deliberate strategy is required to reach people who are couch-surfing or living without shelter, for example on public lands, such as in parks and ravines.

KEY COMPONENTS

The following key components are based on the US Interagency Council on Homelessness (USICH) and aligned with the Homelessness New South Wales' (NSW) approaches to good practices in assertive outreach:

- » Housing First using a Housing First approach can facilitate connecting individuals to services that can help address other needs such as health and employment.
- » A systemic documented approach a systemic approach allows greater participation by community partners and a more efficient response to homelessness. Documents may include maps, schedules, assessments, and other outreach materials.
- » Collaboration with non-traditional partners outreach workers need to be able to connect individuals with multiple agencies across sectors.
- » High quality data having high quality client-centred data helps communities to better monitor progress and respond to needs faster.
- » Coordinated entry coordinated entry processes create opportunities for providers to communicate and collaborate regularly and encourages collective prioritization of individuals with highest need.
- » Targeting targeting individuals based on vulnerability and high service utilization allows workers to more quickly identify people experiencing homelessness and connect them to the most appropriate supports.
- » Data sharing with data sharing across the system individuals with highest need are identified quickly.
- » Hot-spotting hot-spotting is a process to identify concentrations of



high-need individuals geographically

- » Institutional "in-reach" In-reach refers to collaborative outreach efforts with other institutions (i.e. corrections, health care) to meet needs of individuals experiencing or at-risk of homelessness.
- » Warm hand-offs effective outreach ensures there is a gradual, warm handoff to housing and service providers.
- » Training on evidence-based practices Trauma-Informed Care, Motivational Interviewing, and Critical Time Intervention are examples of evidence-based practices helpful to people working with individuals with lived experience.
- » Diversity of approach -engagement efforts should be diverse and robust (i.e. on the street, social media, at drop-in centres).

RESOURCES

20KHomes (2018). Coordinated Outreach Coverage: Key considerations, tips and resources. Found at: http://www.20khomes.ca/wp-content/uploads/Coordinate-Out-reach-Coverage-Key-Considerations-Tips-Resources.pdf

Stephen Gaetz & Erin Dej. (2017). A New Direction: A Framework for Homelessness Prevention. Toronto: Canadian Observatory on Homelessness Press. Found at: https://www.homelesshub.ca/sites/default/files/attachments/COHPreventionFramework_1.pdf

Homelessness NSW (N.D). Assertive Outreach Good Practices Guidelines. Found at: https://www.homelessnessnsw.org.au/sites/homelessnessnsw/files/2017-08/Assertive%20 Outreach%20Practice%20Guidelines%201%20%28002%29.pdf

USICH (2016). The Role of Outreach and Engagement in Ending Homelessness: Lessons learned from SAMHSA's expert panel. Found at: https://www.usich.gov/resources/uploads/ asset_library/Outreach_and_Engagement_Fact_Sheet_SAMHSA_USICH.pdf

EMERGENCY SHELTER AND CRISIS SUPPORTS

DESCRIPTION OF PRACTICE

Emergency shelters and other forms of crisis housing have a critical role in a system's response to homelessness. Effective emergency shelters have a strong housing orientation and are aimed at having the shortest possible length of stays and the least number of returns to shelter possible. (Org Code, 2017) In effective shelter systems, the eligibility criteria, policies, and practices in all shelters are aligned with a Housing First approach.

The National Alliance to End Homelessness defines the role of a shelter in the crisis response system as diverting people from entering shelter if they have safe and appropriate housing alternatives, providing access to shelter beds, enabling 'flow' through to housing, and being connected to permanent housing solutions.

KEY COMPONENTS

There are six key components of effective shelters systems:

- » A Housing First Approach anyone experiencing homelessness can access shelter without prerequisites, services are voluntary, and people are assisted to access permanent housing options as quickly as possible.
- Immediate and Low-Barrier Access having no sobriety and income requirements and other policies that make it difficult to enter shelter, stay in shelter, or access housing and income opportunities. Shelters must accommodate people regardless of criminal history, or other perceived barriers to entry, like previous non-compliance with a housing plan. It also means taking approaches that address reasons why people may be reluctant to access shelter, such as being pet friendly and providing safe storage for possessions.
- » Diversion Supports focus on helping households avoid shelter stays. Supports may include problem-solving assistance to help identify barriers and solutions to the household's current situation; housing help (support to find housing, advocacy and coaching through the process of applying for a lease); eviction prevention (financial support, legal advice, mediation); re-housing assistance (financial support, housing).
- » Practices that Promote Dignity and Respect having values, policies and measurable goals and actions/practices promoting inclusion, cultural competence, dignity and respect.
- » Housing-Focused, Rapid Exit Services focused on helping people obtain permanent housing. This includes practices to intentionally link people to



permanent housing resources and re-house people as quickly as possible. All messaging to clients from the shelter should be focused on housing.

» Data to Measure Performance – involves establishing targets, regularly reporting on performance measurements, and using the information to evaluate the effectiveness of the shelter system and improve outcomes. Targets should be established and data on percentage of exits to permanent housing, time spent homeless, and returns to homelessness, should be measured and regularly reported on.

Another form of interim housing is:

» Transitional Housing – Transitional housing programs offer homeless individuals and families housing for up to (typically) three years. Wrap-around support services, including case management and tenancy supports, are provided along with housing in order to create a more stable environment and ultimately transition into independent permanent housing. Many transitional housing programs are retooling their programs to reduce length of time in the program and increase successful exits to permanent housing.

Another key emergency support program is:

» Discharge Planning – Effective discharge planning includes preparing someone who has lived in an 'institutionalized' setting to live independently or with some supports in a non-institutionalized setting. Discharge and aftercare planning should: prevent consumers from falling into homelessness, identify appropriate housing, have individualized, comprehensive planning that is coordinated with community-based services, have consumers, institutional staff and community partners participate in the planning.

RESOURCES

National Alliance to End Homelessness (2017). Emergency Shelter Learning Series. Found at: https://endhomelessness.org/resource/emergency-shelter/

Org Code (2017). Housing Focused Shelter. Found at: http://www.orgcode.com/housing_ focused_shelter

YOUTH-FOCUSED RESPONSE

DESCRIPTION

Youth homelessness refers to "the situation and experience of young people between the ages of 13 and 24 who are living independently of parents and/or caregivers, but do not have the means or ability to acquire stable, safe or consistent residence" (A Way Home: Youth Homelessness in Canada). A Way Home, a national collation dedicated to preventing and ending youth homelessness in Canada, finds that approximately 20% of all people that experience homelessness in Canada are between the ages of 13 and 25, and that 6,000 youth experience homelessness on any given night, either sleeping outdoors or in emergency shelters. In addition, it is found that young people who identify as LGBTQI2S make up an estimated 25-40% of the youth homeless population, and that Indigenous groups are over represented in the youth homeless population.

Long-term consequences of youth homelessness include increased risk of exploitation; greater involvement with police and justice system; disengagement from school and difficulty getting a job; mental health and addiction problems; chronic homelessness (A Way Home: Youth Homelessness in Canada).

KEY COMPONENTS

Stephen Gaetz in Ending Youth Homelessness in Canada is Possible: The Role of Prevention, describes a prevention framework for ending youth homelessness which includes three key components that can be implemented at the national, provincial or community levels.

- » Prevention the investment in supports and the coordination of services to reduce the likelihood that people will become homeless in the first place; "working upstream to identify those at risk of homelessness and develop interventions that reduce the risk that young people with become homeless". [Gaetz further outlines three interconnected domains to youth homelessness prevention: primary prevention, systems prevention, early intervention].
- » Emergency response set of interventions available once someone has become homeless. The goal is to provide emergency supports to address basic and pressing needs for shelter and food.
- » Accommodation and supports providing supports (income, health care etc.) to rapidly transition people into housing.

Effective responses to youth homelessness involve all three components with emphasis on prevention and strategies that move individuals quickly out of homelessness rather than on managing homelessness. Based on a review of integrated and strategic responses to youth homelessness from the UK, Australia, and the US, Gaetz puts forward five key components to support integrating prevention into a more strategic response:



- 2. Create an integrated system response where homelessness sector services are coordinated and integrated with clear roles and mandates for agencies. System coordination also needs to extend beyond homelessness sector to include services such as health care, supports for those with addictions and mental health, housing services, child welfare and corrections (i.e. 'system of care').
- 3. Facilitate active, strategic and coordinated engagement by all levels of government, and interdepartmental collaboration (health, corrections and justice, housing, education, child welfare).
- 4. Adopt a youth development orientation (focus on needs of adolescents and young adults) and acknowledge diversity among youth in particular sexual and racial minorities.
- 5. Incorporate research, data gathering and information sharing.

RESOURCES

Page

29

A Way Home Canada (N.D). Youth Homelessness in Canada. Website. Found at: http://awayhome.ca/youth-homelessness-in-canada/

A Way Home (N.D). National Youth Collaboration Toolkit. Found at: http://awayhome.ca/ wp-content/uploads/2017/06/National-Youth-Collaboration-Toolkit.pdf

A Way Home Canada. LGBTQ2S Toolkit. Found at: http://lgbtq2stoolkit.learningcommunity.ca/

Canadian Observatory on Homelessness (2016). Canadian Definition of Youth Homelessness. Found at: https://homelesshub.ca/sites/default/files/Definition_of_Youth_ Homelessness.pdf

Gaetz, S. (2014). Coming of Age: Reimagining the Response to Youth Homelessness in Canada. Toronto: The Canadian Homelessness Research Network Press.

Gaetz, S. (2013). Ending Youth Homelessness in Canada is Possible: The Role of Prevention. Toronto: Canadian Homelessness Research Network Press. Found at: https://www.homelesshub.ca/sites/default/files/attachments/27Conclusionweb.pdf

Gaetz, Stephen; O'Grady, Bill; Buccieri, Kristy; Karabanow, Jeff; & Marsolais, Allyson (Eds.) (2013). Youth Homelessness in Canada: Implications for Policy and Practice. Toronto: Canadian Homelessness Research Network Press. Found at: https://www. homelesshub.ca/sites/default/files/attachments/YouthHomelessnessweb.pdf

National Alliance to End Homelessness (2012). Housing and Outreach Strategies for Rural Youth: Best Practices from the Rural Youth Strategy. Found at: https://endhomelessness.org/resource/rural-homelessness/

Turner, A. (N.D). A Way Home: Youth Homelessness Community Planning Toolkit. Found at: https://www.homelesshub.ca/sites/default/files/download-chapter/AWH%20 Community%20Planning%20Toolkit.pdf

DIVERSION

Page

DESCRIPTION OF PRACTICE

30

Diversion is an approach to preventing homelessness by helping people seeking shelter identify immediate alternative housing arrangements and, if necessary, connecting them to services and financial assistance to help them return to permanent housing (NAEH, 2011). Diversion targets people as they are applying for shelter or at the 'front door' of a system entry point. Diversion programs can reduce the number of families becoming homeless and the demand for shelter beds. "Diversion exists because the majority of people that use shelters exit within a short period of time, suggesting they may not have needed shelter at all in the first place" (OrgCode, 2013). Diversion should be attempted with all people seeking shelter. Evidence from shelter diversion programs in North America and the UK suggest that between 30%-50% of people seeking emergency shelter can be diverted (OrgCode, 2013).

While the services (i.e. housing search, housing subsidy/financial assistance, case management, connection to resources) may not differ significantly from those provided by shelters and/or homelessness assistance organization, the timing of the intervention is the key difference. Diversion targets people as they are applying for shelter or at the 'front door' of a system entry point. Rapid re-housing, on the other hand, targets people who are already homeless.

KEY COMPONENTS

Based on NAEH's Creating a Successful Diversion Program for Families, components of a successful diversion program include:

- » Screening tools and process screening process that can quickly determine whether an individual or family can be diverted.
- » System entry point(s) assessment for diversion should take place at the 'front door' (the initial access point (or points) to the homelessness assistance program.
- » Cooperation from other providers organizations direct families coming to them for service to the designated intake/assessment centre.
- » Cooperation from service providers diversion often requires the involvement of service providers from outside the homelessness assistance system.
- » Flexible funding may require the provision of financial assistance to help the individual/family get back into their former housing, enable them to stay a bit longer in their current situation, to unify with family, or help move them quickly into a new housing unit.
- » Resourceful staff members staff should be familiar with intake and assessment processes, have experience with landlord mediation and conflict resolution, and be knowledgeable about rental subsidies and financial literacy programs.

RESOURCES

National Alliance to End Homelessness (2011). Creating a Successful Diversion Program for Families. Found at: http://endhomelessness.org/wp-content/uploads/2011/08/creat-ing-a-successul-diversion-program.pdf

National Alliance to End Homelessness (2018). Key Takeaways: The role of emergency shelter in diversion. Found at: https://endhomelessness.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/ NAEH-Emergency-Shelter-Diversion-Key-Takeaways.pdf

National Alliance to End Homelessness (2018). Key Takeaways: The role of emergency shelter in diversion. Webinar. Found at: https://endhomelessness.org/resource/role-emergency-shelter-diversion/

OrgCode (2013). Diversion 101. Webinar. Found at: https://vimeo.com/69965862



DISCHARGE PLANNING

DESCRIPTION OF PRACTICE

Effective discharge planning includes preparing someone who has lived in an 'institutionalized' setting to live independently or with some supports in a non-institutionalized setting. An effective discharge planning process can help achieve goals of stable housing, recovery, and increase quality of life in the community (Backer, 2007). An institutionalized setting might include jail or other corrections facilities, hospitals, addiction treatment facilities, child welfare facilities, or mental health programs (Homeless Hub, 2018). Currently, discharge programs vary by system and by area and, as such, many people are released from jail/court or hospital to the streets/shelters without a fixed address.

KEY COMPONENTS

The National Health Care for the Homeless Council, a US network of doctors, nurses, social workers, patients and advocates, outlines six recommendations for providers of mental health, health, penal institutions and foster care for the successful implementation of discharge and aftercare planning:

- » The plan should prevent consumers from falling into homelessness.
- » Identification of appropriate housing is critical.
 - » Discharges to emergency shelters are inappropriate for any situation.
 - » Discharges to homeless programs that have 24-hour transitional programs may be made on a case-by-case basis.
 - » Discharges to supportive housing and/or halfway houses are beneficial.
- » Planning must be individualized, comprehensive and coordinated with communitybased services.
- » Consumers must participate in the planning.
- » Institution staff (inclusive of professional staff) and community partners should be included.
- » For consumers with substance use disorder, appropriate treatment must be included.

Research focusing on effective discharge planning for youth emphasize early, frequent, and youth-led engagement centred on providing youth with a range of housing options post-care, including family reunification. Planning should address employment, education, health and mental health, life skills, social inclusion, connection with family, friends, and community post-care (Homeless Hub, 2018).



RESOURCES

Backer, T., Howard, E. & Moran, G. (2007). The role of effective discharge planning in preventing homelessness. The Journal of Primary Prevention, 28(3-4), 229-243.

Homeless Hub (2018). Discharge Planning. Found at:

https://www.homelesshub.ca/about-homelessness/service-provision/discharge-planning.

Los Angeles Coalition to End Hunger & Homelessness (2008). Best Practices manual for Discharge Planning. Found at:

http://www.floridahealth.gov/programs-and-services/emergency-preparedness-and-re-sponse/healthcare-system-preparedness/discharge-planning/_documents/best-practic-es-dp.pdf

Schwan, K. et. al (2018). Preventing Youth Homelessness: An international review of evidence. Found at: https://www.homelesshub.ca/sites/default/files/attachments/180910_WCPP_international_evidence_review__report_submission.pdf



BUILT FOR ZERO CAMPAIGN

DESCRIPTION OF PRACTICE

Built for Zero Canada is a national change effort helping a core group of leading communities end chronic and veteran homelessness in Canada. Launched in March 2019, the Built for Zero Canada campaign builds on the momentum of the 20,000 Homes Campaign; a campaign to house 20,000 of Canada's most vulnerable homeless people.

Built for Zero is based on a 'Functional Zero' approach which describes the situation in a community where homelessness has become a manageable issue; where the availability of services and resources match or exceed the demand for them (Albanese, Pakeman, and Turner).

This approach recognizes that homelessness cannot be completely eliminated, that there will always be a need for a response to an emergency/crisis, and that it is the choice of an individual to receive an offer of services or resources.

KEY COMPONENTS

In a discussion paper 'Considerations for Defining and Measuring an End to Homelessness in Canada', Turner, Pakeman, and Albanese outline three dimensions to achieving functional zero. Within each dimension a series of criteria are put forward:

- » Dimension 1: Lived Experience
 - » Program and housing participants served by homeless-serving system (including shelter, transitional housing, Housing First etc. programs) report high satisfaction
 - » Evidence of systematic and effective inclusion of those with lived experience in community coordination efforts and decision-making to develop and deliver services in the homeless-serving system
- » Dimension 2: Homeless-Serving System
 - » Total number of unsheltered persons and emergency sheltered has consistently decreased by a minimum of 25% over past 3 years
 - » Total number of unsheltered persons is no greater than 10 on any given night in large centres, and 0 in rural communities less than 15,000
 - » All unsheltered persons in a community are engaged with services and have been offered low-barrier shelter and housing at least every two weeks
 - » Length of stay in emergency shelter/unsheltered is less than 10 days on average with a maximum of 60 days for any one individual during the course of the year. This performance is maintained for a minimum of 12 months
 - » Number moving into permanent housing is greater than or equal to number entering homeless-serving system during continuous 90-day period preceding benchmark measurement. This performance is maintained for a minimum of 1 year



- » Prevention services are in place to divert those at imminent risk of homelessness (as defined by HPS 29); a 25% reduction over the past 3 years in number of homeless persons in emergency shelter and transitional housing/outreach with no previous homelessness experience
- » Community planning and service delivery is highly coordinated using a systems approach that includes coordinated entry, assessment, formal standards of care, formal integration strategies with public systems, performance management and funding allocation process
- » Dimension 3: Public Systems

Page

- » Community has consistently reduced the percent of those entering the homeless-serving system from other public systems (e.g., child protection; corrections; inpatient treatment etc.); at minimum, those entering the homeless-serving system from institutions, or who have had institutional stays in the past 12 months, has seen a minimum of 25% reduction over 3 years
- » Government commits that no one should be forced to live on streets and provides sufficient resources to meet emergency shelter demand
- » Adequate affordable housing supply is in place and accessible to meet demand of those at imminent risk of homelessness
- » Adequate systems and supports for young people (13-24) who have to flee the homes of caregivers and may be provisionally accommodated, emergency sheltered/unsheltered, get supports to help them either return safely home or move into their own accommodation (with supports) in a safe and planned way
- » Formalized coordination efforts are in place with public systems to ensure appropriate referrals, timely access to services/supports. This includes public systems conducting standardized screening for housing status/assistance needs and having in place standardized protocols for addressing needs of people who are homeless or at risk
- » Diverse public and private funding sources are committed to maintain service delivery levels to sustain high functioning system
- » Evidence of high levels of funding and policy coordination across government in community's jurisdiction to ensure ending homelessness objectives are supported
- » City laws do not criminalize people who are unsheltered

RESOURCES

Albanese, T., Pakeman K., and Turner, A. (n.d.) Discerning Functional Zero: Considerations for Defining and Measuring an End to Homelessness in Canada. The Homeless Hub Press. Paper #11. Found at: https://homelesshub.ca/sites/default/files/Functional_Zero.pdf

Canadian Alliance to End Homelessness (2019). Built for Zero Canada. Found at: https:// bfzcanada.ca/

COORDINATED AND SYSTEM RESPONSE TO HOMELESSNESS

SYSTEM APPROACH

DESCRIPTION OF PRACTICE

A system planning approach uses Housing First as a guiding philosophy to establish a system-wide approach to addressing homelessness. Essentially, it is aimed at implementing Housing First using a systems perspective. System planning using Housing First as a guiding philosophy "is a method of organizing and delivering services, housing, and programs that co-ordinates diverse resources to ensure that efforts align with homelessness-reduction goals. Rather than relying on an organization-by- organization, or program-by-program approach, system planning aims to develop a framework for the delivery of initiatives in a purposeful and strategic manner for a collective group of stakeholders". (Turner, 2014)

KEY COMPONENTS

In Beyond Housing First, Turner outlines seven practical elements of homeless-serving system planning, including:

- » Planning and Strategy Development process follows a systems approach grounded in the Housing First philosophy.
- » Organizational Infrastructure is in place to implement homelessness plan/strategy and coordinate the homeless-serving system to meet common goals.
- » System Mapping to make sense of existing services and create order moving forward.
- » Co-ordinated Service Delivery to facilitate access and flow-through for best client and system level outcomes.
- » Integrated Information Management aligns data collection, reporting, intake, assessment, referrals to enable coordinated service delivery.
- » Performance Management and Quality Assurance at the program and system levels are aligned and monitored along common standards to achieve best outcomes.
- » Systems Integration mechanisms between the homeless-serving system and other key public systems and services, including justice, child intervention, health, immigration/settlement, domestic violence and poverty reduction.

RESOURCES

Turner, A. (2014). Beyond Housing First: Essential Elements of a System-Planning Approach to Ending Homelessness. The School of Public Policy, University of Calgary Vol. 7(30). Found at: https://www.policyschool.ca/wp-content/uploads/2016/03/be-yond-housing-turner.pdf

HUMAN SERVICES (SYSTEM) INTEGRATION

DESCRIPTION OF PRACTICE

Historically, the response to homelessness has been through a range of programs and initiatives that have been developed across sectors in parallel with one another. For example, housing is separate from health services, which are separate from mental health services and all have different funding streams (Nichols and Doberstein, 2016). More recently, however, there is an increasing effort towards greater collaboration both among service providers and across systems. Human services (system) integration recognizes that homelessness is too complex to be solved by a single sector. An integrated system of care is defined as a local system that addresses the needs of individuals through the coordination and connection of programs, services and resources from planning through to delivery (Calgary Homeless Foundation, 2014).

A systems integration approach attempts to move from a disjointed system to an organized and unified homeless-serving system that is easy to access and effective in its response. These systems include healthcare, corrections, education, child welfare and emergency shelters, and are managed at different levels of government and non-profit community organizations (Nichols and Doberstein, 2016: 462).

Strategies to end homelessness require sustainable, long-term approaches that are supported by integrated systems and community-level resourcing that prioritizes prevention, housing and supports (Nichols and Doberstein, 2016: 198).

KEY COMPONENTS

The following key components are adapted from the Community Strategy to End Youth Homelessness in Edmonton.

- » Coordination of activities of homeless-serving agencies and systems partners
- » Collective principles and values
- » Coordinated access and assessment strategy
- » Coordinated research, data collection, information sharing and evaluation

The literature on youth homelessness also emphasizes that youth be active participants in the planning, delivery and evaluation of programs and services. Another key component to systems integration from the literature is the establishment of an Interagency Council; a collaborative partnership of cross-system and stakeholders from community and government.

RESOURCES

Calgary Homeless Foundation (2014). Calgary Homeless System of Care: System Planning Framework. Found at: https://www.homelesshub.ca/sites/default/files/attachments/CHSS-System-Planning-Framework-online-jan2012_1.pdf



Nichols, N., & Doberstein, C. (Eds.). (2016). Exploring Effective Systems Responses to Homelessness. Toronto: The Canadian Observatory on Homelessness Press. Found at: https://homelesshub.ca/sites/default/files/Systems_Book_-_Web.pdf

Ohio Interagency Council on Homelessness and Affordable Housing. Permanent Supportive Housing Policy Framework. Found at:

https://www.csh.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/07/OH_supporitivehousing_finalframework.pdf

SYSTEM REDESIGN

DESCRIPTION OF PRACTICE

System redesign involves making systemic changes to care practices and systems to improve quality and effectiveness. A collaborative project in the UK, Care Design 2016, between NHS Improving Quality and Nuffield, aims to identify system redesign principles towards the implementation of new care models (North East Transformation System, 2016).

KEY COMPONENTS

Ten system redesign principles identified by the Care Design project include:

- » Understand the health of the population and segment by need so that services can be matched to patient/user characteristics based on need and risk
- » Mobilize the assets of the wider community to enable self-care, shared decision making, 'patient activation', and investments in community development
- » Develop capacity to deal with complexity of needs (i.e. understanding needs, multidisciplinary team, appropriate levels of care)
- » Align the different parts of the system and the pace at which they work (i.e. demand led rather than supply-led)
- » Use the network as a key organizing principle (i.e. shared approaches, cross system accountability, knowledge sharing)
- » Share information across the network and standardize processes to ensure co-ordination, continuity, improved access, anticipation of need, consistent response
- » Design a platform rather than 'vending machine' so that people are connected to what they need and want
- » Purposely focus on the design and improvement of the system
- » Design on a model of living systems not a machine that is based on open systems (continuous flow, non-linear, self-generating) and networks of communication
- » Measure outcomes and key processes across the network of care

RESOURCES

North East Transformation System (2016). System Redesign Principles for Care Models. Found at: https://www.nelean.nhs.uk/care-design-2016/

COORDINATED ACCESS

DESCRIPTION OF PRACTICE

Coordinated access is a community-wide system that streamlines the process for individuals experiencing homelessness to access housing and support services needed to end their homelessness (CAEH, 2018). A coordinated access system follows the principles of Housing First and real-time data sharing. "By standardizing the intake and assessment process, sharing information in real-time within a community, adopting uniform prioritization policies and coordinating referral processes, coordinated access systems connect people to the right housing and supports as efficiently as possible based on their preferences and level of need" (CAEH, 2018).

KEY COMPONENTS

There are seven key components of effective coordinated access models:

- » Access Point(s) Designated method(s) or location(s) where an individual or family in need of assistance connects with service providers and accesses the coordinated entry process. This could be a single point of access or multiple points of access. Single point of access may be helpful in urban areas to centralize all aspects of intake. Multiple location access will still use standardized processes and tools and may facilitate client contact in a larger geographic area and/or where services are not well integrated in one area.
- » Diversion A process that uses standardized questions and assistance with problem-solving to determine whether an individual or family seeking homelessness assistance can be safely stabilized in their current situation or alternative housing arrangements can be immediately identified to address their housing situation without entering emergency shelter.
- » Assessment A standardized assessment process to identify a person's needs.
- » Prioritization Set of criteria to determine a person's level of vulnerability and how they will be ranked and assigned for openings in housing and intensive supports programs rather than a chronological wait list.
- » Referral Shared referral processes and protocols used to connect an individual to the best service and housing intervention based on prioritization policy.
- » Data Sharing A process to collect and share information, including but not limited to, assessments and referrals, in real-time within a community.
- » Governance A governance mechanism to evaluate the impacts of coordinated access and ensure that all programs or service providers who participate in the coordinated access system remain aligned with the system's overall goals and adhere to shared procedures.

DIFFERENT MODELS

The evidence suggests that different types of housing and support programs are best for people with different levels of need:



- Intensive Case Management Intensive case management (ICM) in the context of a Housing First approach is designed to serve moderate/higher acuity clients who have more complex needs. Based on the Toolkit for Intensive Case management in Canada, the client ratios for case managers should not exceed 1:15, compared to the traditional 1:20 for traditional case management, and more time should be dedicated to clients with an average of 2.5 hours per client per week.
- » Assertive Community Treatment Assertive Community Treatment (ACT) programs provide longer-term case management and housing support to very high acuity homeless clients facing addictions and mental health. Turner estimates a caseload ratio of 1:10 for an ACT program.
- » Permanent Supportive Housing Permanent Supportive Housing (PSH) provides long-term housing and supports to individuals who are homeless and experiencing complex mental health, addiction, and physical health barriers. A key feature of PSH is its appropriate level of service for chronically homeless clients who may need support for an uncertain length of time. (Turner, 2015). Turner estimates a case manager ratio of 1:10/15 for high acuity clients and 1:20 for moderate acuity clients.

RESOURCES

Page

20,000 Homes (2018). Coordinated Access System (CAS) Scorecard Guide. Found at: http:// www.20khomes.ca/wp-content/uploads/Coordinated-Access-System-Scorecard-Guide.pdf

Canadian Alliance to End Homelessness (2018). What is Coordinated Access. Website. Found at: http://caeh.ca/cas/

National Alliance to End Homelessness. The Five Keys to Effective Emergency Shelter. Found at: https://endhomelessness.org/resource/emergency-shelter/

National Alliance to End Homelessness (2013). Coordinated Assessment Toolkit. Found at: https://endhomelessness.org/resource/coordinated-entry-community-samples-resource-library/

Social Planning, Policy and Program Administration (2014). Ending Family Homelessness in Waterloo Region. Waterloo, ON: Regional Municipality of Waterloo. Found at: https://www.regionofwaterloo.ca/en/living-here/resources/Documents/Housing/ending-family-homeless-ness-in-waterloo-region-2014-full-report.pdf

St. John's. Homeless-Serving System Coordination Framework. Found at: https://www. homelesshub.ca/sites/default/files/attachments/StJohnsHomelessServingSystem-Final.pdf

Alina Turner (2015): Performance Management in a Housing First Context: A Guide for Community Entities. Toronto: The Homeless Hub Press. Found at: https://www.homelesshub. ca/sites/default/files/attachments/CEGuide-final.pdf

COORDINATED CASE MANAGEMENT

DESCRIPTION OF PRACTICE

Coordinated case management is an integrated and holistic response to meeting the needs of people experiencing homelessness. Through the case plan, coordinated case management is delivered collaboratively with multiple organizations. Sectors involved may include shelter/ housing providers, emergency response services, health services, social services, and other agencies such as youth services, and Indigenous organizations.

KEY COMPONENTS

- » Systems approach addresses the needs of individuals through the coordination and connection of programs, services and resources.
- » Shared vision organizations have a common understanding of the issues and joint approach to solving it.
- » Person-centred plans and activities are differentiated and individualized based on need while still coordinated through a mutually reinforcing plan of action.
- » Communication and knowledge sharing ongoing communication and knowledge sharing to define, and assess needs, goals, and actions.
- » Shared data activities and outcomes are recorded and monitored in shared database.

RESOURCES

Homelessness NSW (N.D). Assertive Outreach Good Practices Guidelines. Found at: https:// www.homelessnessnsw.org.au/sites/homelessnessnsw/files/2017-08/Assertive%20Outreach%20 Practice%20Guidelines%201%20%28002%29.pdf

Calgary Homeless Foundation (2011). Standards of Practice: Case Management for Ending Homelessness. Found at: https://www.homelesshub.ca/sites/default/files/CHF%20Case%20 Management%20Accreditation%20Manual.

HOUSING STABILITY ASSESSMENT AND TOOLS

DESCRIPTION OF PRACTICE

Within the framework of a Housing First approach, communities are seeking out and implementing ways of prioritizing people based on needs. Screening and assessment tools can help guide service systems and, once completed, can result in helping service providers determine an individual's need so that appropriate housing placement can occur (BC Housing, 2017).

KEY COMPONENTS

Key components of a housing stability assessment may include:

- » Housing status: Is the person homeless? Chronically? Episodically?
- » Vulnerability status: What is their level of vulnerability (physical health, mental health, substance use)? Is the person at risk of harm to him/herself or others?
- » Service use: Is the individual a high service user?
- » Severity of need: What is the individual's severity of need (low, moderate, high)?
- » Further assessment: Does the individual require further assessment or assistance?

In Screening for Housing First, the authors identify three key steps in the assessment process and provide sample tools for each:

- 6. Screening Initial engagement/priority setting/eligibility/determination
 - » VI, VAT, VI-SPAT
- 7. Service/Support Planning Level of support and care planning with client
 - » STAR, LOCUS, MCAS, Camberwell, GAINSSS, SPDAT, Strengths Assessment and Recovery Plan Tools (University of Kansas)
- 8. Service/Support Provision Monitoring process and outcomes
 - » HONOS, STAR, MCAS

RESOURCES

Aubrey, T., Bell, M., and Ecker, J. and P. Goering (2015). Screening Housing First. The Homeless Hub and Mental Health Commission of Canada. Found at: https://homelesshub.ca/sites/default/files/attachments/ScreeningforHF-Dec8.pdf



BC Housing (2017). Final Report of the Vulnerability Assessment Tool Evaluation: Narrative Summary of Quantitative and Qualitative Findings. Prepared by Pathways PtH Housing First Inc. & The Centre for Research on Educational and Community Services, University of Ottawa. Found at: https://www.homelesshub.ca/blog/vulnerability-assessment-tool-evaluation-final-report

Canadian Observatory on Homelessness Table of Screening Tools (2015). Found at: https://www.homelesshub.ca/resource/screening-housing-first-phase-one-assess-ment-road-map

Washington State Department of Social and Health Services. Independent Living Skills Assessment Tool. Found at: https://transitionresponse.com/wp-content/uploads/2011/09/Life-Skills-Assessment-Div.-Of-Children.pdf

